Health and Wellbeing Board

Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2023

Present:

Councillor T Robinson, Executive Member for Member for Healthy Manchester and Adult Social Care (MCC) - In the Chair Katy Calvin, Thomas - Manchester Local Care Organisation Kathy Cowell, Chair, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust Paul Marshall, Strategic Director of Children's Services David Regan, Director of Public Health Bernadette Enright, Director of Adult Social Services Tom Hinchliffe, Deputy Place Based Lead Dr Murugesan Raja, Manchester GP Board

Apologies:

Councillor Craig, Leader of the Council Councillor Bridges, Executive Member for Children and Schools Services Councillor Chambers Deputy Executive Member for Healthy Manchester and Adult Social Care Bill McCarthy, Chair, Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust Amanda Smith, Chair, Healthwatch

Also in attendance:

Jane Pilkington, Director of Population Health, NHS Greater Manchester Dr Cordelle Ofori, Deputy Director of Public Health

HWB/23/20 Minutes

Decision

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2023 as a correct record.

HWB/23/21 Manchester Partnership Board Update

The Board considered the report of the Deputy Place Based Lead that provided an update on the topics discussed at the private meeting of the Manchester Partnership Board held 3 October 2023. Reference was made to ongoing work concerning:

- Commissioning work within Manchester and Greater Manchester, concerning the integrated commissioning function for health and social care with all partners.
- Winter planning relating to Urgent and Emergency Care Capacity Funding. It was reported that agreement had been reached on the most effective use for the limited level of funding available for the winter period. The funding will be used for additional capacity in primary care. It was acknowledged that work

with partners had enabled the funding available to be targeted in areas of need.

The Chair also reported that so far, no response had been received to the letter sent to the Secretary of State for Health, from him and Councillor Green (Chair of the Health Scrutiny Committee), concerning funding arrangements for the Integrated Care Board (ICB) for the 2023/24 winter period. Any response received would be circulated to members of the Board and the Health Scrutiny Committee. The Chair also reported that he will discuss the importance of using the Urgent and Emergency Care Capacity Funding effectively with the Deputy Chief Executive (Manchester Foundation Trust).

Decision

The Board noted the report.

HWB/23/22 Fairer Health for All

The Board considered the report of the Director of Population Health, NHS Greater Manchester Integrated Care and the Director of Public Health, Manchester City Council, that described the opportunities for the Manchester Locality, through the Health and Wellbeing Board, to input and shape priorities for co-ordinated action on health inequalities across Greater Manchester.

The report described that Fairer Health for All (FHFA) was a system-wide commitment and framework for reducing health inequality and tackling inequalities across the wider, social, and commercial determinants of health, leading to a greener, fairer, more prosperous city-region. In addition, it was noted that FHFA had been co-produced through extensive locality and community participation and engagement over the past fifteen months, which had taken place alongside the development of NHS Greater Manchester's Integrated Care Partnership strategy and the Five Year Joint Forward Plan.

Consideration would also be given to the proposed principles, targets and metrics in the Greater Manchester Fairer Health for All Framework. It was important to note that Manchester already had the well-developed Making Manchester Fairer Action Plan (2023-2027) and the Director of Public Health, Deputy Director of Public Health and the GM Director of Population Health would continue to work collaboratively to ensure plans were aligned and clear.

The Board was requested to review and comment on the Fairer Health for All Framework Engagement Draft and engagement questions outlined in section 2.2 of the report submitted.

The Director of Population Health provided an overview of the plan and outlined the ongoing work to align sectors in addressing health inequalities. The Board was informed that the document sets out a plan and provides practical tools and resources to help make Fairer Health for All a reality. This includes two central tools: a Fairer Health for All Academy to support learning and development and Health and

Care Intelligence Hub will foster shared learning and collaboration and collate vast and diverse intelligence, data and insights from across public and VCFSE partners.

Confirmation was given that the Fairer Health for All will be submitted to the Integrated Care Board and Integrated Care Partnership. Health Trusts will also receive the document for comment, via a task group appointed to provide the alignment to Manchester Foundation Trust. Discussions are currently ongoing to determine how the providers will be engaged.

The Chair welcomed and commented that the report is accessible to all audiences. In reference to the delivery work within localities it was requested that separate reference should be included in the final document to acknowledge this.

It was reported that the final report will include all linked plans as well as references to locality work.

The Chair invited questions and comments from the Board.

In response to the report the board made the following comments: -

In welcoming the report, the Chair of MFT highlighted the importance of using the document as a tool to help engage with and better inform local people and MFT members and use the input to complement the work of MFT Governors.

Reference was made to NHS community services/ Living Well at Home, and it was suggested that a more explicit reference on of role of community services within integrated urgent care should be included. Currently work across GM is working to standardise delivery of services and the inclusion of that work in the document would beneficial.

Reference was made to the importance of all partners working to the same plan and direction to ensure that the resources available to providers are used in the most efficient manner. The document contains information to help better support the dialogue for a joined-up and preventative care approach and inform financial planning to achieve it.

A comment was made that it is important that the inclusion of principles to provide a level of standards on what to expect at a local level within a neighbourhood setting is presented as an enabler rather than another strategy.

A comment was made that specific reference could be made to work on commissioning within the care market.

In response to the points and comments made, the Director of Population Health referred to discussions currently ongoing on contracting and commissioning arrangements to agree on a process to align social value on commissioning. With reference to principles, there are principles included within the document. The principles are being used in conjunction with GM system boards and other partners on the design of an assurance process/framework. The Fairer Health for All Academy website will be used to provide examples of the work and stories of

change. The comment made on alignment of partners feature strongly within work to build relationships and strengthen communication. Developing models of care also provide the opportunity to make financial savings. The Director also undertook to provide feedback on a social model for health and where possible to support arrangements for the work of MFT Governors.

The board was informed that the next steps of the process for the document would be presented to locality boards during November across Greater Manchester, with a final consideration by the ICB and ICP in January 2024.

Decision

The Board noted the report.

HWB/23/23 Making Manchester Fairer: Tackling Health Inequalities in Manchester 2022-2027

The Board considered the report of the Deputy Director of Public Health that described the key achievements of the Making Manchester Fairer programme in September as well as an update on the Communities and Power Theme and the Race & Health Education Programme.

The report and accompanying presentation described that a comprehensive and immersive education programme on Race and Health Equity had been developed and commissioned. The programme was launched on 18 September at the Manchester Art Museum with partners from across the council, health, and housing attending. 75 people had been invited as the first cohort which would enable our workforce to be better informed, equipped and confident to implement the right solutions that will improve outcomes for communities experiencing racial inequality and discrimination.

The report and accompanying presentation further described that a Communities and Power Steering Group, co-chaired by Manchester City Council's Deputy Leader Cllr Rahman, and Executive Member for Vibrant Neighbourhoods Cllr Igbon, had been established to drive forward the actions outlined within the two Manchester-specific themes of (i) Tackling systemic racism and discrimination, and (ii) Communities and power. The Communities and Power Steering Group work had developed several workstreams that would support the delivery of the aims and objectives of the MMF Action Plan.

The Chair invited questions from the Board.

A member asked if there is an opportunity for partners to join up existing workstreams relating to race and racism in the workplace to help amplify the approach across Manchester. With reference to neighbourhood working, and in particular community development work, the comment was made that it is important for community-based roles/skills to be co-ordinated to ensure that the same approach and methodology are used whenever the community is being engaged and amplify this across Manchester. It was reported that the work to amplify workstreams is already taking place through the regular meetings with those linked to the various organisations involved. Highlighting the work would be discussed to decide how to best showcase what is happening and how specialist skills are used.

In response to a comment made on the importance of achieving the correct narrative for a holistic approach from organisations, the board was informed that partners involved in housing had set up a task group to work on all eight themes to engage with communities and reflect on the approach of the organisation. The task group has enabled specific matters to be addressed in a joined-up approach from the partner organisations.

A member referred to the Community Development Review and the importance of ensuring service users have a voice and that the voice is heard and asked how the services users will know they have been heard and how will that help to shape future actions.

It was reported that the maturity assessment quality standards will measure how the information received is used and will feed back to the participants on any action taken on issues raised. The Community and Residents Involvement Framework provides a description of the arrangements for engagement and accountability. A Making Manchester Fairer Community Forum will be established for residents with a lived experienced to help input on the best way to hold Making Manchester Fairer to account.

The Chair stated that it is important to reflect on what has taken place during the last twelve months on the work to develop Making Manchester Fairer and what has been achieved in that time. The initiative involves key stakeholders from across Manchester and it is important to maintain a spirit of versatility with integrity to ensure that tackling health inequality is the central focus while working towards Making Manchester Fairer a whole Council approach. Monitoring the delivery of the initiative will be the key to assure the residents of Manchester that the right approach has been taken.

Acknowledgement was given to the work undertaken by the lead officers involved in the two themes presented.

Decision

The Board noted the report.

HWB/23/24 Stopping the start: Our new plan to create a smokefree generation in Manchester

The Board considered the report of the Director of Public Health that provided an update to previous reports about the Tobacco Control and Vaping Programme and set out the response to the government's proposals.

Noting that on 4 October 2023, the Rt Hon Steve Barclay MP, Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, wrote to Directors of Public Health to advise them of the government's future plans to control tobacco use and vaping. The letter was accompanied by the publication of a Command Paper titled, *"Stopping the start: our new plan to create a smokefree generation."* The Command Paper sets out the government's plan to prevent addiction to all forms of tobacco, to support current smokers to "quit" and to enhance the controls and legislation around electronic cigarettes, with the aim of curtailing the worrying phenomenon of youth vaping.

The proposals contained within the Command Paper are the subject of a major public and professional consultation which closes on the 6 December 2023.

The Department of Public Health at Manchester City Council welcomes the contents of the Command Paper because smoking remains the biggest cause of preventable death in Manchester. Government estimates suggest that there have been as many, if not more, deaths from smoking, as from COVID-19 in England since the start of the pandemic. In Manchester, although improvements have been made, smoking rates are still higher than national averages.

Vaping, when used appropriately, could be one of the treatment solutions available to support tobacco users to manage their addiction to Nicotine and ultimately to "quit" smoking. However, Manchester is experiencing some of the social problems associated with vaping, in terms of youth vaping and a significant counterfeit market.

Manchester City Council and partner organisations had taken a whole system approach to Tobacco Control for many years. The well-established partnership programme had been extended to incorporate the phenomenon of vaping and is well placed to implement all the government's recommendations and much of this work is already underway.

The report described that the Director of Public Health had worked with the Programme Lead for Tobacco Control to collate a Manchester response to the proposals contained within the Command Paper. These are set out in section 6.4 and the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to comment on each of them. Pending any additions and changes suggested by the Board, the Chair, supported by the Director of Public Health, will submit the formal response to the consulation on behalf of the Board by 6 December 2023. The report presented the initial summary responses.

The Chair in acknowledging the importance of Tobacco Control and Vaping Programme, thanked officers for the work undertaken.

The Chair requested an update be submitted to the next meeting of the Board in January 2024, to set out what the intensions are for Manchester and the proposals to use the allocated funding from the Government.

The Board was advised that a bid will also be submitted for funding for the Swap to Stop Scheme. This will involve the creation of a focus scheme in Newton Heath and Miles Platting working with housing providers in those areas to identify and engage with smokers in those areas who are not known to the Stop Smoking service. Members of the Board welcomed the report and acknowledged the challenge of changing the behaviour of smokers and communities.

The Chair referred to Section 4 of the report and asked if specific issues should be included in the Chair's response to the consultation.

The Board was informed that there are different reasons for vaping which include vaping to help stop smokers for health purposes and vaping that is not that is related to criminality. The use of vaping has grown massively across all sections of the city and Trading Standards officers have helped to uncover an illegal vaping market and have seized a high volume of vapes in the process which have been linked to organised crime groups.

A member of the Board asked if there are sufficient resources available to address the behavioural change needed to prevent the take up of vaping by young people.

It was reported that a training programme is being developed for professionals, parents and carers working with children to help address any confusion on the safety of vaping. A North West School Vaping Statement has been published and is being disseminated and will be circulated shortly. The increase in the use of vaping will need to be considered separately to tobacco control. The update report to be submitted in January 2024 will outline how funding received will be used on smoking cessation and will include a focus on the increase in vaping and youth vaping and how existing resources can be used and where additional capacity may be needed for local approaches.

The findings of the consultation and anticipated recommendations expected from the Government will help to start to address youth vaping through legislation on the marketing of products, similar to those used for tobacco products. This approach will be as important as the ongoing related health work.

Decisions

- 1. The Board noted the report and agreed that the Chair, supported by the Director of Public Health, responds formally to the consultation on behalf of the Manchester Health and Wellbeing Board as set out in section 6.4 of the report.
- 2. To circulate the Chairs consultation response to all Board members and the Member of Parliament for each of the Manchester constituencies (as set out in 1 above).